Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Injury

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/injury

Acute total hip replacement for acetabular fractures: A systematic review of the literature

Umberto Giovanni De Bellis^{a,*}, Claudio Legnani^b, Giorgio Maria Calori^c

^a U.O.S.D. Servizio di Traumatologia d'Urgenza, Istituto Ortopedico G. Pini, Milano, Italy

^b Scuola di Specializzazione in Ortopedia e Traumatologia, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milano, Italy

^cS.C. Chirurgia Ortopedica Riparativa e Risk Management, Istituto Ortopedico G. Pini, Milano, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Acute total hip replacement Immediate total hip replacement Acetabular fracture Walking ability Weight-bearing *Introduction:* Immediate total hip replacement (THR) in patients with acetabular fractures is controversial because of concerns about high complication rates. The current article is a systematic review of the literature on the use of acute THR for the treatment of acetabular fractures.

Materials and methods: This systematic review included studies published in English between 1992 and 2012 of subjects with acetabular fracture undergoing immediate THR. Outcomes of interest included indications; clinical assessment, including walking ability; comparison with control group; associated procedures, and rate of complications, such as loosening or revision surgery.

Results: This review identified six studies, of which only one included a control group. Acute THR was associated with satisfying outcomes with regard to clinical assessment and walking ability. The comparative study assessed the difference between acute THR and delayed THR in acetabular fractures: improved outcomes were observed in the delayed THR group, although the differences between the two groups were not statistically significant.

Discussion: According to data reported in the literature, acute primary THR can be successful in patients with poor bone quality, combined acetabular and femoral neck fractures, or pathological fractures and concurrent osteoarthritis of the hip. Relative indications include old age, delayed presentation, substantial medical comorbidities, and pathologic obesity. Clinical outcomes with acute THR were similar to those with delayed THR. Although the results reported in the six studies reviewed here were satisfying overall, there is limited evidence in this area in the existing literature and future prospective investigations are required.

Conclusion: Data reported in the literature indicate that immediate THR can be successful in appropriately selected elderly patients or patients with extensive osteoporosis, combined acetabular and femoral neck fractures or pathological fractures. There is currently a limited evidence base for THR in patients with acetabular fractures; therefore, physicians' practice and expertise are the most useful tools in clinical practice.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction	357
Materials and methods	357
Types of studies	357
Search strategy	357
Data extraction	
Results	
Search results	357
Indications	
Clinical assessment	357

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: umbertogiovanni.debellis@gpini.it (U.G. De Bellis).



Review





^{0020–1383/\$ –} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2013.09.018

Walking ability	358
Associated procedures	358
Comparison with control group	358
Complication and failure rates	358
Discussion	360
References	360

Introduction

The incidence of acetabular fractures is increasing, particularly in the elderly population [1,21,22]. Osteoporosis is a contributing factor in most hip fractures caused by low-energy falls; treatment of acetabular fractures in aged patients is challenging because of fracture patterns, poor bone quality, patient status and potential comorbidities [2].

Non-surgical management comprising prolonged rest represents a treatment option for minimally displaced fractures, or in patients who are unable to tolerate surgical treatment [3]. Nonoperative treatment has proven to be unsuccessful in patients with displaced fractures because patients do not cope with prolonged bed rest with or without bone traction. In addition, these patients need quick mobilisation and early weight-bearing to enable a rapid and complete recovery [4].

Currently, ORIF is the treatment of choice for displaced acetabular fractures [4]. However, the outcome may often be compromised by osteoarthritis, femoral head necrosis or hetero-topic ossification, even when anatomic reconstruction of the joint had been achieved [5–8]. For these reason many patients require salvage total hip replacement (THR) months or years after the initial trauma [9]. It has been reported that a belated arthroplasty following initial surgical treatment may be obstructed by heterotopic bone, scar tissue, muscles or acetabulum avascularity, impeding hardware or occult infection [10].

Acute THR has been proposed for the treatment of patients with acetabular fractures because it enables immediate full weightbearing and reduces the occurrence of delayed surgery for posttraumatic onset of osteoarthritis [10,23]. This article is a systematic review of the literature on the use of acute THR for the treatment of acetabular fractures.

Materials and methods

Types of studies

This systematic review included studies published in English of subjects with acetabular fracture undergoing immediate THR. Date limits were set to between 1992 and 2012 to enable a review of recent data. Comparison groups were included (either control or alternative surgical intervention). Case reports, review articles and expert opinion or editorial pieces were excluded from the review.

Search strategy

Searches were conducted using the following databases: Pubmed/MEDLINE, CINAHL, SCOPUS, Embase and Ovid. The following keywords were used: 'acetabular fracture', AND 'surgical treatment' OR 'operative treatment', AND 'primary' OR 'acute', AND 'total hip replacement' OR 'total hip arthroplasty'. The abstracts of all hits were reviewed, duplicates were eliminated and references were hand screened for relevant citations.

Data extraction

Study characteristics, such as year of publication, study population, mean age, level of evidence, type of acetabular fracture, type of surgical technique and duration of follow-up, were extracted and collected by two reviewers, and checked by a third. An electronic database was created. The Oxford Centre for Evidence Based Medicine (CEBM) hierarchy of evidence was used to determine the level of evidence of studies [11].

Outcomes of interest included indications; clinical assessment, including walking ability; comparison with control group; associated procedures, and rate of complications, such as loosening or revision surgery.

Results

Search results

The database search retrieved 811 possible articles. Six studies met all the inclusion criteria for this review (Table 1). All were published between 2002 and 2010. The search resulted in only one level III comparative cohort study [12], and five studies were caseseries (Level IV) [13–17]. One retrospective case series used a comparison group of patients treated with delayed THR [12]. One prospective case series was included [13]. One study that examined a cohort of patients treated with either acute THR or ORIF was excluded because it did not report the characteristics of the two populations separately [18]. Follow-up periods ranged from 29.4 months to 8.1 years in a long-term study. Table 1 provides an overview of the characteristics of the studies included in the review. Clinical outcomes, complications and failure rates are presented in detail in Table 2.

Indications

Most of the studies indicate that combined acute THR (alone or in combination with ORIF) is the treatment of choice in patients with complex fractures according to Letournel and Judet, concurrent osteoarthritis of the hip, associated femoral head fractures, pathological fractures, significant poor bone quality because of osteopaenia or osteoporosis, or non-reconstructable fractures [12,15,16,19]. Mears et al. [10,14] added the following criteria as indications for acute THR: marked impaction, extensive abrasion of the femoral head, marginal or central acetabulum impaction involving more than 30% of its surface area, and extensive acetabular comminution [14]. Relative indications included delayed presentation, substantial medical comorbidities, obesity, and advanced age [13].

Clinical assessment

Mouhsine et al. [13] examined prospectively 18 patients aged 65–93 years (mean age 76 years) who underwent associated THR and cable fixation. One patient died of unrelated disease. Clinical outcomes for the remaining patients were reported to be good to excellent. Mears and Velyvis [14] reported an average Harris Hip Score (HHS) of 89 (range 69–100); however, they reported less favourable results in patients aged 70–79 years (average HHS 87) and in those aged 80–89 years (average HHS 75), which represent the population that is more likely to receive this kind of treatment. Tidemark et al. [15] described 10 patients with a mean age of 73 years: HHS was good or excellent in six patients (60%) and

Summary of studies included in the present paper reporting results of total hip replacement for acetabular fractures.	led in the pre	sent paper reporting resul	s of total hip re	placement for acetal	oular fractures.			
Author	Year	Level of evidence	Patient numbers	Mean age	Mean time from injury to surgery	Follow-up (range)	Type of acetabular fracture according to Letournel and Judet	Associated procedures
Sermon et al. [12]	2008	III Retrospective case–control study	64	78	N/a	30.7 months (12–180)	27 (42%) Elementary 37 (58%) Complex	None
Mouhsine et al. [13]	2004	IV Case series	18	76 (65–93)	10 days (3–16)	36 months (12–46)	2 (11%) Elementary 16 (89%) Complex	Additional cable fixation
Mears et al. [14]	2002	IV Case series	57	69 (26–89)	6 days (1–20)	8.1 years (2–12 years)	25 (44%) Elementary 32 (56%) Complex	Additional cable fixation, multiple screws, lag screws
Tidemark et al. [15]	2003	IV Case series	10	73 (57–87)	N/a	38 months (11–64)	5 (50%) Elementary 5 (50%) Complex	Burch-Schneider antiprotrusion cage
Herscovici et al. [16] Sarkar et al. [17]	2010 2004	IV Case series IV Case series	22 35	75.3 (60–95) 74 (41–91)	5.1 days (3–22) N/a	29.4 months (13–67) 72 months (14–151)	22 (100%) Complex 14 (40%) Elementary	Additional standard ORIF Additional standard ORIF
					-		21 (60%) Complex	(23), reinforcement ring(15), metal mesh (3)

Table 1

health-related quality of life according to the EQ-5D was 0.62, compared with 0.78 in an equally matched reference population. The average HHS reported by Herscovici et al. [16] was 74 in a population with a mean age of 75.3 years; all patients had complex fractures according to Letournel and Judet and were treated with combined ORIF and THR.

Walking ability

Tidemark et al. [15] reported the use of walking aids in patients aged from 57–87 years who underwent primary THR with a Burch-Schneider antiprotrusion cage and autologous bone grafting. All patients were independent walkers at follow-up with only 30% of patients requiring a walking aid. In the study by Mears and Velyvis [14], 68% of patients walked normally or with a slight limp and without a support; 23% could walk for long distances with a cane and 9% were not able to walk even with support. In the study by Herscovici et al. [16], seven patients deambulated without any aids, five required a cane, five used a walker (two of them required an abduction brace) and one used a wheelchair. In the study by Sarkar et al. [17], four patients were severely impaired, relying permanently on crutches, whereas four patients were able to go mountain hiking, play tennis or work as a farmer or truck driver on a construction site.

Associated procedures

Prosthesis alone was used for the management of acetabular fractures in one of the studies in this review [12]. In two studies, fractures were treated with an associated cable fixation [13,14]. In one paper, THR was associated with the use of a Burch-Schneider antiprotrusion cage together with bone grafting [15]. Herscovici et al. [16] used standard ORIF as they claimed that cable fixation may not manage column injuries or acetabular fractures in patients with significant osteopaenia. Sarkar et al. [17] used different techniques for acetabular reconstruction through the years, from conventional screws and plates to roof reinforcement with antiprotrusion cages. The authors did not report any differences in stability or complication rates between the results of the earlier cemented cups and the use of reinforcement rings in later years.

Comparison with control group

Sermon et al. [12] compared the results of primary THR in patients with an average age of 78 years with those of delayed THR in patients with an average age of 53 years. A reduced revision rate (8% compared with 22%) and a reduced occurrence of heterotopic ossification (28% compared with 41%) were observed in the acute THR group compared with the delayed THR group. However, there were more patients with subjectively excellent or good results according to the HHS in the delayed THR group compared with in the primary THR group (76% compared with 58%). None of these differences were statistically significant.

Complication and failure rates

ORIF: Open reduction internal fixation. N/a: Not available

Overall, the following major complications were reported: four deep vein thromboses [14,15] and one transient ischaemic attack [16]. Average HHS when reported ranged from 74 to 89. Wound complications, which included either superficial wound infections or wound healing problems, were reported in two patients [16,17]. Presence of heterotopic ossification was the most recurrent complication in the studies considered, and ranged from 10% to 40%. The dislocation rate ranged from 0% to 14%. One study reported complications arising from hardware intolerance,

Table 2
Clinical outcomes, complications and failure rates.

Author	Harris Hip score	Complications	Loosening rate	Dislocation rate	Revision rate	Notes
Sermon et al. [12]	21 Excellent 10 Good 15 Fair 7 Bad	18 (28%) Heterotopic ossifications	N/a	0 (0%)	4 (8%)	Reduced revision rate and reduced occurrence of heterotopic ossification in the acute THR group
Mouhsine et al. [13]	N/a	2 (11%) urinary tract infections 6 (35%) heterotopic ossifications	0 (0%)	1 (6%) [*]	0 (0%)	100% clinically excellent and good result
Mears et al. [14]	89 (range 69–100) 33 (58%) Excellent 12 (21%) Good 9 (16%) Fair	3 (5%) deep venous thrombosis 1 (2%) intolerance to hardware 6 (10%) heterotopic ossifications	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	3 (5%) 1 dislocation 1 hardware removal 1 heterotopic	45 (79%) good/excellent Harris Hip Score
					ossification removal	
Tidemark et al. [15]	3 (5%) Bad 85 (range 69–99)	4 (40%) heterotopic ossifications	0 (0%)	1 (10%)	0 (0%)	All patients were independent walkers at follow-up with a need for walking aids in 30% of cases
	2 (20%) Excellent 4 (40%) Good 3 (30%) Fair 1 (10%) Bad	1 (10%) deep venous thrombosis				
Herscovici et al. [16]	74 (range 42-86)	2 (9%) urinary tract infections	2 (9%)	3 (14%)	5 (23%)	Better results in 19 patients treated using a Kocher-Langenbeck approach compared to ilio-inguinal
		1 (4%) transient ischaemic attack 4 (18%) heterotopic ossifications 1 (4%) wound deiscence			2 dislocation 2 loosening 1 heterotopic ossification	
Sarkar et al. [17]	N/a	2 (10%) recurrent dislocation**	4 (21%)**	2 (10%)**	removal 8 (42%)**	Low overall outcomes due to patients' general situation which was frequently compromised by preexisting chronic diseases or by sequelae of concomitant injuries
		2 (10%) deep infection 1 (5%) superficial infection 3 (16%) cup loosening 1 (5%) stem loosening 1 (5%) fracture of the ceramic head			2 dislocation 3 loosening 1 deep infection 1 superficial infection 1 fracture of the ceramic head	

N/a: Not available. * Results refer to 17 patients. ** Results refer to 19 patients.

requiring revision [14]. The highest revision rate (42%) together with the highest prevalence of radiographic loosening (21%) was reported by Sarkar et al. [17]. Herscovici et al. [16] reported the highest rate of dislocations (14%) (Table 2).

Discussion

The most important finding of the present study is that acute primary THR can be successful in appropriately selected elderly patients, according to data reported in the literature. Selection criteria must be strict to maximise the outcome. Common indications include poor bone quality, combined acetabular and femoral neck fractures or pathological fractures and concurrent osteoarthritis of the hip. Relative indications include old age, delayed presentation, substantial medical comorbidities, and pathologic obesity.

Among the papers considered in the present review, the preferred surgical technique was the association of THR and cable fixation [13,14]. Only one study used prosthesis alone [12]. In one study, THR was associated with the use of a reinforcement ring together with bone grafting [15] and in one paper standard ORIF was employed [16]. One study that considered the outcomes of acetabular reconstruction through several years used either conventional screws and plates or roof reinforcement with antiprotrusion cages [17].

Acute THR was associated with satisfying outcomes with regard to clinical assessment and walking ability, with an average HHS ranging from 74 to 89. In the comparative study that assessed the difference in outcomes between acute THR and delayed THR in acetabular fractures, improved outcomes were observed in the delayed THR group although the differences were not statistically significant [12]. Advanced age is a poor prognostic factor for functional outcome. Mears and Velyvis reported lower HHS in elderly patients compared with younger patients in a patient population ranging in age from 26 to 89 years [14]. The most frequent complications.

Dislocations are a major problem during THR surgery, particularly in patients with cognitive impairment [20]; therefore, this type of treatment may not be optimal in patients with severe cognitive dysfunction. The use of THR for acute acetabular fracture in patients with neurologic impairment is also debated. Sarkar et al. recommended THR in patients suffering from somatosensory, neurologic or psychiatric diseases [7]. These authors indicated that the reduced ability of the patients to participate in rehabilitation after reconstructive surgery may affect the outcomes of treatment with ORIF.

A disadvantage of the use of THR in acute treatment of acetabular fractures is the difficulty of achieving effective stability of the acetabular fracture to minimise the risk of aseptic cup loosening [14]. According to some authors, the use of cable fixation [13,14] or plates and screws [16] is required to achieve sufficient stability of the implant.

Tidemark et al. [15] advocated the use of a reinforcement ring. Sarkar et al. [17] observed that reinforcement rings appeared to provide higher initial stability compared with conventional screws and plates for acetabular reconstruction; however, there were no differences in stability or complication rates between the two techniques. In the comparative study, a reduced revision rate was observed in the acute THR group compared with the delayed THR group (8% compared with 22%) [12].

The highest radiographic loosening rate (21%) was reported by Sarkar et al. [17]: the overall clinical condition of the patients in this report was frequently compromised by preexisting chronic diseases or by sequelae of concomitant injuries. Herscovici et al. [16] reported the highest dislocation rate (14%) in a population of elderly patients with complex fractures. The authors concluded that acute THR may not manage column injuries or acetabular fractures in patients with significant osteopaenia.

In summary, ORIF is widely considered to be the standard treatment for young and middle-aged patients with an acetabular fracture; however, primary THR could be a more suitable approach in elderly patients with concomitant chronic systemic diseases or local disorders that may prevent anatomic reconstruction of a functioning hip joint. Indications for primary THR include bone quality, concomitant femoral neck fractures or pathological fractures and concurrent osteoarthritis of the hip. Advanced age, delayed presentation, substantial medical comorbidities, and pathologic obesity are relative indications. Problems related to the combined ORIF and THR procedure included high transfusion rates, lengthy anaesthetic times, and technical difficulties [16]. THR is a severe intervention that can lead to major complications and may be challenging even in experienced hands.

The main limit of this systematic review is the considerable lack of high level studies supporting primary THR for acetabular fractures. Only one study provided a subgroup analysis to compare outcomes in patients with immediate THR and delayed arthroplasty for failed primary non-operative or operative treatment. Further randomised trials and comparative studies are required to enable surgeons to determine the correct therapeutic approach for patients with fracture of the acetabulum. There is currently a limited evidence base for THR in patients with acetabular fractures; therefore, physicians' practice and expertise are the most useful tools in clinical practice.

References

- Laird A, Keating JF. Acetabular fractures: a 16-year prospective epidemiological study. | Bone |oint Surg 2005;87-B:969–73.
- [2] d'Imporzano M, Liuni FM, Tarantino U. Acetabular fragility fractures in elderly patients. Aging Clin Exp Res 2011;23(2 Suppl.):71–3.
- [3] Tornetta III P. Displaced acetabular fractures: indications for operative and nonoperative management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2001;9:18–28.
- [4] Kumar A, Shah NA, Kershaw SA, Clayson AD. Operative management of acetabular fractures: a review of 73 fractures. Injury 2005;36:605–12.
- [5] Matta JM. Fractures of the acetabulum: accuracy of reduction and clinical results in patients managed operatively within three weeks after the injury. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1996;78:1632–45.
- [6] Kreder HJ, Rozen N, Borkhoff CM, Laflamme YG, McKee MD, Schemitsch EH, et al. Determinants of functional outcome after simple and complex acetabular fractures involving the posterior wall. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2006;88-B:776–82.
- [7] Sarkar MR, Billharz E, Wachter NJ, Kinzl L, Bischoff M. Long-term outcome of secondary joint replacement after acetabular fracture. Eur J Trauma 2001;27:301–8.
- [8] Giannoudis PV, Grotz MRW, Papakostidis C, Dinopoulos H. Operative treatment of displaced fractures of the acetabulum. J Bone Joint Surg 2005;87-B:2– 9.
- [9] Crawford III CH, Malkani AL. Acute total-hip arthroplasty for acetabular fractures: an update on recent literature. Curr Opin Orthop 2006;17:25–30.
- [10] Mears D, Velyvis JH. Primary total hip arthroplasty after acetabular fracture. Instr Course Lect 2001;50:335–54.
- [11] CEBM. Oxford Center for Evidence Based Medicine, <<u>http://www.cebm.net</u>>; 2011 [accessed 27.07.12].
- [12] Sermon A, Broos P, Vanderschot P. Total hip replacement for acetabular fractures. Results in 121 patients operated between 1983 and 2003. Injury 2008;39:914–21.
- [13] Mouhsine E, Garofalo R, Borens O, Blanc CH, Wettstein M, Leyvraz PF. Cable fixation and early total hip arthroplasty in the treatment of acetabular fractures in elderly patients. J Arthroplasty 2004;19:344–8.
- [14] Mears D, Velyvis JH. Acute total hip arthroplasty for selected displaced acetabular fractures: two to twelve-year results. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002;84-A:1–9.
- [15] Tidemark J, Blomfeldt R, Ponzer S, Söderqvist A, Törnqvist H. Primary total hip arthroplasty with a Burch-Schneider antiprotrusion cage and autologous bone grafting for acetabular fractures in elderly patients. J Orthop Trauma 2003;3:193–7.
- [16] Herscovici D, Lindvall E, Bolhofner B, Scaduto JM. The combined hip procedure: open reduction internal fixation combined with total hip arthroplasty

for the management of the acetabular fractures in the elderly. J Orthop Trauma 2010;24:291–6.

- [17] Sarkar MR, Wachter N, Kinzl L, Bischoff M. Acute total hip replacement for displaced acetabular fractures in older patients. Eur J Trauma 2004;5:296–304.
- [18] Carroll EA, Huber FG, Goldman AT, Virkus WW, Pagenkopf E, Lorich DG, et al. Treatment of acetabular fractures in an older population. J Orthop Trauma 2010;2:637–44.
- [19] Jimenez ML, Tile M, Shenk RS. Total hip replacement after acetabular fracture. Orthop Clin North Am 1997;28:435–46.
- [20] JohanssonT, Jacobsson SA, Ivarsson I, Knutsson A, Wahlström O. Internal fixation versus total hip arthroplasty in the treatment of displaced femoral neck fractures: a prospective randomised study of 100 hips. Acta Orthop Scand 2000;71:597–602.
- [21] White G, Kanakaris NK, Faour O, Valverde JA, Martin MA, Giannoudis PV. Quadrilateral plate fractures of the acetabulum: an update. Injury 2013;44(2 (Feb)):159–67. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2012.10.010</u>. Epub 2012 Oct 31.
- [22] Guerado E, Cano JR, Cruz E. Fractures of the acetabulum in elderly patients: an update. Injury 2012;43(Suppl. 2 (Dec)):S33–41. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/</u> <u>S0020-1383(13)70177-3</u>.
- [23] Chana-Rodríguez F, Villanueva-Martínez M, Rojo-Manaute J, Sanz-Ruíz P, Vaquero-Martín J. Cup-cage construct for acute fractures of the acetabulum, re-defining indications. Injury 2012;43(Suppl. 2 (Dec)):S28–32. <u>http://</u> dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0020-1383(13)70176-1.